ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

FEB - 6 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Georgetown County  
George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

VLADIMIR WALT PANTOVICH,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001433  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR Court erred in (1) requiring Petitioner to show an irregularity in the Court's Anders review procedure in order to establish the prejudice prong of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, and (2) ruling that Petitioner was not prejudiced by appellate counsel's filing of an Anders brief rather than a merits brief on a preserved issue, the failure to give a good character instruction, that would likely have been successful on appeal if fully briefed?

## STATEMENT

### **Procedural History**

On April 5, 2006, Petitioner Vladimir Walt Pantovich was indicted by the Georgetown County Grand Jury for the murder of Shelia McPherson on or about March 7, 2006. App. 686 - 687.

On February 4-8, 2008, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and was tried by a jury for the offense listed in the indictment. Petitioner was represented by Stuart Axelrod and Chris Castro, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor William Bryan. App. 1. During the charge conference, Petitioner requested that the Trial Court charge No. 19: Good Character of Defendant. App. 550, 21 – 552, 23. The solicitor did not object to the inclusion of some good character charge, but requested that court give a “more balanced” charge on character. App. 551, 12-25. The trial judge refused to give the requested charge, stating “I think the charges I’ve got adequately covers everything.” App. 552, 5-8. The trial judge made the requested instruction a court’s exhibit, stating “They’re to preserve the record. That’ll show that you requested that those charges be made and I denied that motion.” App. 552, 10-13. There is no dispute on error preservation. App. 680 n.3 (Order of Dismissal).

The jury found Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter. App. 609, 5-10. Judge Culbertson sentenced Petitioner to eighteen years imprisonment. App. 614, 3-5.

On direct appeal, former Chief Appellate Defender Joseph Savitz filed an Anders<sup>1</sup> Brief on behalf of Petitioner on October 7, 2009. Supp. App. 1-10. The appeal was summarily dismissed on June 8, 2011 pursuant to the Anders procedure. Supp. App. 11.

---

<sup>1</sup> Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967).

## **Application for Post-Conviction Relief and Evidentiary Hearing**

On June 22, 2012, Petitioner filed his Application for Post-Conviction Relief. App. 622 – 628. The State filed its Return on September 26, 2012. App. 629 – 632. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable George C. James on March 21, 2014. Petitioner was represented by Tristan Shaffer and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Joshua L. Thomas. App. 633. The only witness was trial counsel, Stuart Axelrod. App. 635 – 663.

Petitioner waived his allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and focused solely on the ineffectiveness of appellate counsel for failing to raise a preserved issue of the Trial Court's denial of requested jury instructions. App. 636, 2 – 637, 8. The State stipulated that the request for the jury charge was preserved for appellate review. App. 639, 6 – 640, 1; App. 666 – 669 (PCR Court's Ex. 1); App. 680 n.3; see App. 552, 5-23. Trial counsel testified that Petitioner was charged with the murder of his girlfriend following an argument during which she attacked him and he defended himself with a baseball bat. App. 640, 9-20. Trial counsel called several witnesses to testify regarding Petitioner's good character. App. 642, 25 – 644, 4. These witnesses included Andy Seifert, a friend of Petitioner and former neighbor of Petitioner and the victim, who testified that Petitioner is "very nice, very respectable, hard-working, great with kids, my kids loved him." She also testified that she had never seen Petitioner hit the victim or act violently toward anyone else. App. 494, 16 – 497, 23. Christine McCune, a bartender to and friend of Petitioner, also testified, stating "Walter [Petitioner] is a wonderful man. He is kind, caring. My family loves him. My daughter has known him since she was a little girl and think he's wonderful." She also testified to that she has never seen Petitioner lose his temper or act in a violent manner toward the victim or anyone else. App. 507, 13 – 510, 5. Maureen Moans, a former neighbor of Petitioner and the victim and close friend of the victim, testified that she never saw Petitioner act violently toward the

victim or anyone else and gave him a nickname of “the gentle giant.” App. 511, 3 – 516, 2. Debbie Crisman, a former girlfriend and friend of Petitioner, testified that “Walt [Petitioner] was kind, caring. If anybody, any of his friends ever needed anything he would do anything in his power to try and help them.” She also testified that she has never been afraid of Petitioner and has never seen him be violent. App. 517, 5 – 522, 1. Tammy Jean Eschman, a former neighbor of Petitioner and the victim, who testified that “Walt [Petitioner] has a heart of gold. He’s never been anything but gentlemanly and nice to me. He’s a good person. I couldn’t have anything bad to say about him.” She also testified that though the victim would throw things at Petitioner on a continual basis, she never saw Petitioner throw anything back and never saw him act violent. She testified that Petitioner stayed with the victim “because he loved her and he wanted to help her.” App. 524, 5 – 529, 18.

The State attempted to undermine this good character evidence by presenting rebuttal testimony of Petitioner’s ex-girlfriend, with whom he has two children in common, who alleged that Petitioner was violent toward her during their relationship. App. 537, 10 – 545, 1. Both trial counsel and the solicitor also discussed Petitioner’s character in their closing arguments. The solicitor tried to focus the jury on the testimony of the rebuttal witness in an effort to refute the characterization of Petitioner as a “gentle giant.” App. 547, 12-18; App. 573, 18 – 574, 16. Trial counsel summarized the character testimony of the witnesses, arguing that they corroborate Petitioner’s position and they “had no reason to come forward but to speak the truth.” App. 563, 14-16; App. 564, 1 – 565, 17. Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he believed that had the requested instruction been given, that he would have won the trial. App. 645, 5-13.

PCR counsel argued that appellate counsel was ineffective in filing an Anders brief on a Melendez-Diaz<sup>2</sup> claim of Confrontation Clause violations rather filing a merits brief on the preserved jury instruction issue. App. 650, 2 – 14. The discussion of the jury charges before the PCR Court focused on proposed charge No. 19, which states:

An accused, when charged with a crime, has the right of proving his general good character. He may introduce evidence of his good character which is inconsistent with the crime charged against him.

Evidence of the general good character of the accused is for the purpose of showing the improbability that the defendant would have committed the crime charged. The good character of the accused is like all other evidence in the case and is entitled to such effect and weight as you, the jury, may determine.

Good character evidence alone may create a reasonable doubt as to the commission of the crime charged. Thus, under some circumstances, a person might be entitled to a verdict of not guilty when his good reputation is taken into consideration even though a verdict of guilty might be authorized without the evidence of good character.

App. 666 (PCR Court's Ex. 1, p. 1). PCR counsel argued that charge No. 19 was applicable due to the character evidence presented, including Petitioner's previously calm reaction when the victim would attack him which would make it unlikely that the victim's attack on Petitioner just before her death rendered him incapable of cool reflection. App. 650, 23 – 651, 6. This would negate the "heat of passion" element of voluntary manslaughter such that the jury would have likely found that Petitioner acted in self-defense.<sup>3</sup> App. 651, 1-6. PCR counsel further argued that because the Court

---

<sup>2</sup> Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527 (2009).

<sup>3</sup> The PCR judge pointed out that a jury finding that Petitioner did not act in heat of passion could conversely lead to a finding of the greater offense of murder. App. 651, 7-14. However, such seems unlikely in this case where the jury did not find the requisite malice to convict Petitioner of murder.

of Appeals does not make a ruling on the merits following its Anders review, Petitioner's only remedy to a disagreement with the "no merits finding" is through PCR. App. 653, 25 – 654, 8. PCR Counsel argued that any presumption of the validity of the Anders review would be overcome by the PCR court's assessment that the jury instruction issue was meritorious and would have been successful had it been raised in a merits brief. App. 661, 25 – 662, 22. In sum, PCR counsel argued that there was substantial good character evidence presented at trial, a good character charge was requested but not made, the attorneys both argued character in closing, appellate counsel did not brief the good character charge issue despite it being properly preserved, and had the issue been fully briefed it would likely have been successful on appeal.

The State argued at the PCR hearing that charge No. 19 was not proper in Petitioner's case and did not result in any prejudice to Petitioner because there was no question that he committed the act itself. App. 655, 4-25. The State also noted the difficulty in showing prejudice when appellate counsel follows the judicially set forth Anders procedure. However, the State conceded that there is no *per se* rule that the filing of an Anders brief prohibits a finding of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. App. 657, 2-10. But, the State still contended that so long as the Anders procedure was complied with, there is a "presumption of regularity." App. 658, 4-7.

### **Order of Dismissal**

On June 16, 2014, Judge James issued an Order of Dismissal denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief. Judge James found that Petitioner did not prove ineffective assistance of counsel, even assuming *arguendo* that appellate counsel was deficient, because Petitioner did not show that he was prejudiced by appellate counsel's performance. The PCR Court found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of showing prejudice because he did not show any irregularity in the Anders procedure. App. 679. Additionally, Judge James explicitly rejected the

State's argument that any error was harmless despite appellate counsel's deficiency and any prejudice to Petitioner, finding that the evidence of Petitioner's guilt was not overwhelming. App. 679 – 680.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR Court erred in (1) requiring Petitioner to show an irregularity in the Court's Anders review procedure in order to establish the prejudice prong of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, and (2) ruling that Petitioner was not prejudiced by appellate counsel's filing of an Anders brief rather than a merits brief on a preserved issue, the failure to give a good character instruction, that would likely have been successful on appeal if fully briefed.**

Appellate counsel was ineffective in filing an Anders brief rather than filing a brief on the highly meritorious issue of the Trial Court's failure to give a good character jury instruction where ample evidence of Petitioner's good character was presented, the request for a good character instruction was preserved, and Petitioner would likely have been granted a new trial were the charge issue fully briefed. The State conceded at the PCR hearing that the request for this instruction was preserved for appellate review, as the PCR Court agreed. App. 680 n.3. Appellate counsel was deficient because a reasonably competent attorney would have found that the jury instruction issue warranted a merits brief. The PCR Court assumed appellate counsel's deficiency *arguendo* and denied Petitioner's relief based on its findings regarding prejudice. App. 679 – 680. The PCR Court applied an unprecedented requirement that Petitioner prove some irregularity in the Anders procedure to show prejudice. App. 679 – 682. However, the case law clearly states that even in the context of the Anders procedure, the Strickland<sup>4</sup> test applies. See Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259 (2000). Thus, Petitioner established prejudice by showing that had the jury instruction issue been included in a merits brief, there is a reasonable probability that he would have prevailed on his appeal.

---

<sup>4</sup> Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

### **Standard of Review Where Appellate Counsel Files No-Merits Brief**

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387 (1985); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, ‘whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.’ ” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668). This same test applies when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 680 S.E.2d 273 (2009).

First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel’s representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’ ” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance in such a manner that, but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.*

In Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967), the United States Supreme Court announced a constitutionally sufficient framework for appeals where appellate counsel for an

indigent defendant finds that there is no meritorious issue for appeal.<sup>5</sup> If appellate counsel determines after a “conscientious examination” of his client’s case that an appeal would be frivolous:

He should so advise the court and request permission to withdraw. That request must, however, be accompanied by a brief referring to **anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal**. A copy of counsel’s brief should be furnished the indigent and time allowed him to raise any points that he chooses; the court—not counsel—then proceeds, after a full examination of all the proceedings, to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous. If it so finds it may grant counsel’s request to withdraw and dismiss the appeal insofar as federal requirements are concerned, or proceed to a decision on the merits, if state law so requires. On the other hand, if it finds any of the legal points arguable on their merits (and therefore not frivolous) it must, prior to decision, afford the indigent the assistance of counsel to argue the appeal.

Anders, 386 U.S. at 744, 87 S.Ct. at 1400 (emphasis added). The purpose of this procedure is to ensure that indigent defendants are “afforded ... that advocacy which a nonindigent defendant is able to obtain.” Id. at 745, 87 S.Ct. at 1400.

In Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 120 S.Ct. 746 (2000), the United States Supreme Court, reviewing a grant of habeas corpus relief, remanded the case for a proper evaluation of appellate counsel’s alleged ineffectiveness for filing a no-merits brief.<sup>6</sup> In its instructions on

---

<sup>5</sup> Prior to the Anders decision, California’s practice was to merely file a “no-merit letter” with the appellate court asserting counsel’s bald conclusion that the appeal was not meritorious. Anders, 386 U.S. at 739-43. In finding this practice insufficient, the Supreme Court stated: “The constitutional requirement of substantial equality and fair process can only be attained where counsel acts in the role of an active advocate in behalf of his client, as opposed to that of amicus curiae. The no-merit letter and the procedure it triggers do not reach that dignity.” Id. at 744.

<sup>6</sup> In Robbins, the United States Supreme Court evaluated California’s response to Anders, which is a procedure set forth in People v. Wende, 600 P.2d 1071 (Cal. 1979). Robbins, 528 U.S. 259 (2000). The Supreme Court found California’s Wende procedure sufficient even though it differed from the “prophylactic framework” set forth in Anders. Id. at 272-76. In finding such, the Supreme Court noted its “established practice, rooted in federalism, of allowing the States

remand, the Supreme Court advised that the Strickland test should be applied to Robbins' claim that appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to file a merits brief. 528 U.S. at 285.

The Robbins Court stated:

[Appellant] must first show that his counsel was objectively unreasonable, in failing to find arguable issues to appeal—that is, that counsel unreasonably failed to discover nonfrivolous issues and to file a merits brief raising them. If [appellant] succeeds in such a showing, he then has the burden of demonstrating prejudice. That is, he must show a reasonable probability that, but for his counsel's unreasonable failure to file a merits brief, he would have prevailed on his appeal.

Id. The Court noted that the sufficiency of counsel's performance does not have to be addressed first, as it may often be easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of prejudice. Id. at 286 n. 14. Additionally, contrary to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal's finding, the Supreme Court stated that where the claim is ineffectiveness of counsel, there is no presumption of prejudice. Id. at 286-87. A presumption of prejudice applies only where counsel was denied altogether, there was State interference with counsel, or counsel had a conflict of interest. Id.

The Court recognized that appellate counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous claim and may instead "select from among them in order to maximize the likelihood of success on appeal." Id. at 288. Despite this, the Court acknowledged that it is still possible to bring a Strickland claim based on counsel's failure to raise a particular claim. Id. In fact, the Court stated that it is easier to satisfy the first part of Strickland where appellate counsel filed a no

---

wide discretion, subject to the minimum requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment, to experiment with solutions to difficult problems of policy." Id. at 273. The Court also noted their prior express disclaimer of any rulemaking authority for the states in the area of indigent criminal appeals and cited to several cases reflective of the state's substantial discretion. Id. at 273-76.

merits brief, as opposed to where the claim is based on appellate counsel briefing the wrong issue(s). Id. This is because to establish appellate counsel's deficient performance, "it is only necessary for him to show that a reasonably competent attorney would have found one nonfrivolous issue warranting a merits brief."<sup>7</sup> Id. However, the prejudice analysis remains the same. Id.

In Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309-10, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009), this Court applied Robbins in its analysis of Bennett's claim that appellate counsel was ineffective for filing an Anders brief rather than filing a merits brief on a Confrontation Clause issue concerning admission of out-of-court statements made by Bennett's wife. Bennett was convicted of assault and battery with intent to kill, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and first-degree burglary. 383 S.C. at 307, 680 S.E.2d at 274-75. Bennett and his wife, Ms. Bennett, were drinking at the home of a friend when he became violent toward Ms. Bennett and was ejected from the home. Id. at 306, 680 S.E.2d at 274. Bennett returned later and severely beat the homeowner, Mr. Garland. Id. Testimony included a third party recounting Ms. Bennett's statements during the attack and a detective reading into the record the statement that he took from Ms. Bennett. Id. Appellate counsel filed an Anders brief on an unrelated issue. Id. at 307 n.2, 680 S.E.2d at 275 n.2. This Court found that the even assuming counsel's performance was deficient, there was no prejudice to Bennett because "Ms. Bennett's out-of-court statements admitted at trial were cumulative evidence and not necessary to prove Respondent's guilt." Id. at 310, 680 S.E.2d

---

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