STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

The Honorable George C. James Jr., Circuit Court Judge MAY 26 2015

Appellate Case No. 2014-001433

S.C. Supreme Court

Vladimir Walt Pantovich, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In State v. McKennedy, 348 S.C. 270, 559 S.E.2d 850 (2002), this Court outlined the Anders procedure as follows:

“[A]ccording to Anders, the reviewing court is obligated to make a full examination of the proceedings on its own. After such an examination, if the reviewing court agrees with the attorney, it may dismiss the appeal or proceed to a decision on the merits. On the other hand, if the court disagrees with the attorney's analysis of the appeal, it must afford the defendant ‘the assistance of counsel to argue the appeal.’ The purpose of filing a brief under Anders is to ensure the merits of the appeal are not overlooked. The court has to conclude independently, regardless of counsel's conclusion, whether or not the appeal has merit before it can dismiss the appeal.”

McKennedy, 348 S.C. at 279, 559 S.E.2d at 855. Thus, the Anders procedure requires the court of appeals to independently review the entire trial record before determining there is no merit to the appeal.

A presumption of regularity attaches to judicial proceedings, and this presumption should extend to the court of appeal's review under the Anders procedure. See Pringle v. State, 287 S.C. 409, 410-11, 339 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1986) (citing State v. Britt, 235 S.C.

395, 111 S.E.2d 669 (1959); State v. Jones, 211 S.C. 319, 45 S.E.2d 29 (1947); State v. Waring, 109 S.C. 52, 95 S.E. 143 (1918)). Accordingly, this Court must presume the court of appeals reviewed the issue of the trial judge's refusal to issue trial counsel's requested jury instructions² before dismissing Applicant's direct appeal. See also McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 46 (2013) ("Under the Anders procedure, an appellate court is required to review the entire record, including the complete trial transcript, for any preserved issues with potential merit." (citing State v. Williams, 305 S.C. 116, 406 S.E.2d 357 (1991))). The court of appeals is required to make an independent determination that preserved issues do not warrant a new trial, and its compliance with the Anders procedure here creates a presumption of regularity.

Petitioner argues requiring him to rebut a presumption of regularity creates an insurmountable obstacle to showing prejudice. However, as the plaintiff in a civil action, Petitioner has the burden to demonstrate he is entitled to relief. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). In Pringle, the appellant challenged the validity of his indictment. Pringle, 287 S.C. at 410, 339 S.E.2d at 128. Normally, "[i]nvestigations and deliberations of a grand jury are conducted in secret and are, as a rule, legally sealed against divulgence." State v. Whitted, 279 S.C. 260, 262, 305 S.E.2d 245, 246 (1983) (citing Ex parte McLeod: In Re Cannon, 272 S.C. 373, 252 S.E.2d 126 (1979)), overruled on other grounds by State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1998). However, at Pringle's post-conviction

² Both parties stipulated trial counsel properly preserved the challenge to the trial judge's charge. See State v. Johnson, 333 S.C. 62, 508 S.E.2d 29 (1998) (objection to a judge's charge is preserved where there is an on-the-record opportunity for discussion).

relief hearing, there was testimony by the foreman of the grand jury³ regarding the indictment process, in spite of the privileged nature of grand jury proceedings. Pringle, 287 S.C. at 411, 339 S.E.2d at 128. Here, no one prevented Petitioner from attempting to uncover some testimony regarding the court of appeals' Anders process. However, Petitioner did not attempt to present evidence to rebut the presumption of regularity.⁴ Petitioner's argument that he can only "identify a preserved issue and argue its merits" is not sufficient to overcome the requirement that he present evidence to support his arguments. His mere allegation of ineffectiveness is not sufficient to carry his burden of proof. Cf. Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 70-71, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003) ("Respondents are not permitted to simply rest on the allegations in their complaint, especially where, as here, the majority of the factual allegations are conclusory in nature."). While Respondent acknowledges the potential difficulty in meeting this burden, the mere fact Petitioner believes this issue warrants reversal is not sufficient to overcome a presumption the court of appeals complied with the Anders procedure established by this Court.

This Court's established procedure requires the court of appeals to make an independent assessment of whether there are any preserved issues of merit. See, e.g., McKennedy, 348 S.C. at 279, 559 S.E.2d at 855; McHam, 404 S.C. at 475, 746 S.E.2d at 46. Thus, "it is reasonable to presume that when the court affirms an Anders appeal it has fully considered and rejected all potential issues that were apparent on the face of the

³ The opinion in Pringle does not indicate whether the grand jury foreman was a witness for the applicant or the State.

⁴ Although the post-conviction relief judge testified he would not have listened to such testimony, Petitioner never gave him the opportunity to make a formal ruling where he did not even attempt to present such testimony.

record.” Towbridge v. State, 45 So. 3d 484, 487 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2010). The Anders procedure requires the court to independently examine the trial proceedings and consider “any errors apparent on the face of the record.” Id. at 486-87 (citations omitted). Trial counsel clearly requested and was denied the inclusion of the character charge in a pre-charge conference, and the trial judge went as far as to say the issue was preserved for the record. (App. p. 550, line 21- p. 552, line 25). Because the discussion regarding the character charge is clearly apparent from the face of the transcript, Petitioner’s argument the court of appeals must have overlooked this issue is not persuasive.

The post-conviction relief judge properly presumed the court of appeals’ compliance with the Anders procedure, as outlined in McKennedy and McHam, supra, included a review of this issue. Because the issue is apparent from the face of the record, evidence supports the post-conviction relief judge’s finding Petitioner failed to demonstrate this issues was overlooked by the court of appeals before it dismissed his appeal. See Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (this Court must affirm the circuit court’s denial of post-conviction relief when there is any probative evidence to support his findings).

II. Additional Grounds Appearing in the Record

Respondent submits this Court should affirm the post-conviction relief judge on the following additional grounds. See I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 418, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (2000) (noting that Rule 220(c), SCACR, allows the Court to “affirm any ruling, order, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”).

A. Petitioner would not have been successful on appeal even if appellate counsel had filed a merits brief addressing the trial judge's refusal to give a good character instruction.

Petitioner asserts the court of appeals would have given him a new trial had appellate counsel argued the trial judge erred in not issuing a good character instruction. However, Respondent submits the court of appeals would not have overturned Respondent's conviction because exclusion of the good character charge did not affect the jury's verdict. Thus, Petitioner failed to demonstrate he was prejudiced by appellate counsel's decision not to brief this issue. Anderson v. State, 354 S.C. 431, 434, 581 S.E.2d 834, 835 (2003) (applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability he would have prevailed on appeal." (citations omitted)).

While a trial judge is required to issue a good character instruction where a defendant presents character witnesses, the trial judge's failure to give the instruction is still subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 240, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982). Although a defendant is generally entitled to a good character instruction when he presents supporting evidence, he cannot show prejudice from the lack of the charge where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt.⁵ Id. Here, the record conclusively establishes Petitioner committed voluntary manslaughter. Petitioner admitted to his son, the police, a television news crew, and the jury that he beat the victim with a baseball bat. (App. p. 178, lines 2-4; p. 221, line 25; p. 226, line 29-p. 227, line 6; p. 438, lines 6-10). The victim's blood covered Petitioner's house. (App. p. 326, line 24-p. 328, line 23).

⁵ Although the trial judge found there was no overwhelming evidence of guilt, presents this argument to show the post-conviction relief judge could have also found Applicant had not demonstrated prejudice because he failed to show "there is a reasonable probability he would have prevailed on appeal." Anderson, 354 S.C. at 434, 581 S.E.2d at 835. The post-conviction relief judge's finding of no overwhelming evidence of guilt does not prevent this Court from evaluating the trial transcript to determine if the court of appeals could have overturned the conviction based on the arguments raised by Petitioner.

Petitioner was arrested fleeing to North Carolina with the victim's dead body in his trunk. (App. p. 224, lines 12-17). Both the physical and testimonial evidence overwhelmingly support the conclusion Petitioner is guilty of voluntary manslaughter. See State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001) ("Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation." (citations omitted)).

When South Carolina courts have reversed a trial judge's decision to not issue a good character instruction, they did so because the record left a question as to whether the defendant's behavior formed the elements of a crime. In State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 167, 539 S.E.2d 71, 72 (Ct. App. 2000), the defendant was convicted of simple possession of cocaine. His defense to that charge was he was not in possession of the cocaine, but was merely attempting to possess it. Id. at 174, 539 S.E.2d at 75. The court of appeals held the only evidence to contradict this defense was the testimony of a single officer, which did not equate to overwhelming evidence to excuse the trial judge's failure to issue a good character instruction. Id. at 174-75, 539 S.E.2d at 75-76.

In State v. Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. 310, 314, 692 S.E.2d 895, 897 (2010), the defendant was convicted of forgery. There, the defendant claimed she believed she was authorized to seek reimbursements for certain expenses. Id. at 314-15, 692 S.E.2d at 897. This Court held the trial judge erred in not issuing the good character instruction because the defendant's honesty and trustworthiness were integral to her "good faith" defense. Id. at 317, 692 S.E.2d at 898.

In both Harrison and Lee-Grigg, there was a factual question as to whether each defendant had engaged in the conduct that formed the *corpus delicti* of their crime. In

Harrison, the question was whether the defendant actually completed the act of possessing the drugs. In Lee-Grigg, the question was whether the defendant had intent to commit forgery. If the jury in either case believed the defendant's testimony *in toto*, it would have to find the defendant innocent. In contrast, there is no question in Petitioner's case whether he committed voluntary manslaughter. Petitioner testified his mindset changed immediately before he beat the victim. (App. p. 438, lines 14-23; p. 464, lines 11-20). He also testified he was afraid from the victim's attacks. (App. p. 437, lines 18-25). Petitioner's own testimony supports a conviction for voluntary manslaughter. See State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 598-99, 698 S.E.2d 604, 609 (2010) ("Succinctly stated, to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, the defendant's fear must manifest itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence."). This testimony, coupled with the overwhelming forensic evidence, make this case is more apposite to Green, where the defendant admitted his participation in the crime. Green, 278 S.C. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335.

Furthermore, Petitioner's only defense to his charge was a claim of self-defense. Testimony regarding Petitioner's character had no logical bearing on whether the jury was satisfied he established all four elements of self-defense⁶ at the moment he struck the fatal blows. Petitioner's character may have been relevant to whether he murdered the

⁶ See State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994) ("To establish self-defense the defendant must establish the following elements: 1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; 2) the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger; 3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; if the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life, and; 4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance." (citing State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984))).

victim with malice aforethought, but it has no bearing, under these facts, on whether he satisfied each element of self-defense. See Starnes, 388 S.C. at 599, 698 S.E.2d at 609 (“Evidence that fear caused a person to kill another person in a sudden heat of passion will mitigate a homicide from murder to manslaughter—it will not justify it.”). In light of the entire record before the Court, Petitioner simply has not shown the trial judge committed reversible error in refusing to issue the good character instruction. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the post-conviction relief judge’s denial of relief because the court of appeals would not have overturned Petitioner’s conviction even if the good character issues had been briefed.

B. Petitioner failed to present testimony from appellate counsel to rebut the presumption appellate counsel made a strategic decision to file an Anders brief.

The post-conviction relief judge assumed appellate counsel’s deficiency *arguendo*, and specifically ruled on the prejudice prong of the Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984), analysis. However, because this Court must entertain a “‘strong presumption’ that counsel’s attention to certain issues to the exclusion of others reflects trial tactics rather than ‘sheer neglect[.]’” Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 109 (2011), Respondent submits the post-conviction relief judge also could have properly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden to overcome the presumption appellate counsel made a strategic decision to forgo briefing the good character instruction issue. Petitioner bore the burden to show appellate counsel’s decision was not reasonable, yet he presented no testimony from appellate counsel. See, e.g., Collins v. State, 686 S.E.2d 305, 308 (Ga. 2009) (“[D]uring the hearing, Collins’s appellate counsel did not ask trial counsel about the decision not to call Malcom as a witness, ‘and the decision not to do so is therefore

presumed to be a strategic one that does not amount to ineffective assistance.” (citations omitted)). His mere allegation of ineffectiveness is not sufficient to carry his burden of proof. Cf. Dawkins, 354 S.C at 70-71, 580 S.E.2d at 439 (2003) (“Respondents are not permitted to simply rest on the allegations in their complaint, especially where, as here, the majority of the factual allegations are conclusory in nature.”). Therefore, Respondent submits this Court should affirm the post-conviction relief judge’s denial of relief because Petitioner failed to present any evidence to rebut the presumption appellate counsel made a strategic decision to submit an Anders brief.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the
Petition for Writ of Certiorari.